

ALL-CONSUMING: Building a healthier food System for people and planet



A report from the UK Health Alliance on Climate Change

CONTENTS

| Acknowledgements | 3 |
|---|----|
| Executive summary Introduction Healthy food within planetary boundaries Food and climate | 4 |
| | 6 |
| | 7 |
| | |
| The challenge of changing UK diets | Ç |
| Policy Recommendations | 1(|
| 1. Advice and information | 10 |
| 2. Food labelling | 10 |
| 3. Reducing waste | 11 |
| 4. Public procurement | 11 |
| 5. Towards a carbon tax | 12 |
| 6. Food policy after Brexit | 12 |
| 7. Governance and strategy | 12 |
| Conclusion | 13 |
| References | 14 |
| Further reading | 15 |



The UK Health Alliance on Climate Change brings together doctors, nurses and other health professionals to advocate for responses to climate change that protect and promote public health. Our vision is that the threats to planetary health from climate change are minimised in a way that maximises potential benefits to health. Our membership includes medical, nursing and veterinary royal colleges, faculties of health, the British Medical Association, the British Medical Journal and The Lancet.

While climate change poses the greatest health threat of the 21st century, the actions needed to halt climate change can unlock large health co-benefits. The Alliance was formed in reaction to these profound threats and opportunities and seeks to drive an accelerated policy response.



ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS:

Special thanks to Adrian Harvey for drafting this report, and to those who provided specialist advice including Simon Billing, Caroline Cerney, Susan Jebb, Modi Mwatsama, Kristin Bash, Peter Chalkley, Tamara Lucas and Sonia Roschnik. Thank you also to our Policy and Communications working group and Executive Committee: Martin Davies, Rose Gallagher, Rob Wilson, Fiona Godlee, Terry Kemple, Tom Pierce, Kate Lancaster, Sandy Robertson, Robin Stott, Pooja Kumari, Olivia Lines, Scarlett McNally, Rory Murray, Jacob Krzanowski, Lisa Page, Jeremy Wright, Helen Ross, Julian Ryder, Camila Azevedo and Zoë Moulton.

FIND OUT MORE:

For any questions or queries about this UK Health Alliance on Climate Change report, or to discuss it further, please get in touch:

info@ukhealthalliance.org

JOIN OUR NETWORK:

To register for updates from the UK Health Alliance on Climate Change, go to:

Whealthalliance.org/take-action

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Until recently, most activity to limit climate change has focused on decarbonising energy and transportation, but attention is increasingly turning to the role that food plays in producing greenhouse gas emissions. It is now widely recognised that it will be impossible to keep global temperatures at safe levels unless there is a transformation in the way the world produces food and manages land.

In the UK, food production and consumption represents around 20% of our emissions, half of which is related to imports (largely through feed crops and the related deforestation), rather than the food that we produce here. As well as shifting to more sustainable food production, we will need to substantially reduce – by 50% – the amount of food lost and wasted along the food supply chain, from production to consumption. Furthermore, as the biggest driver of deforestation, agriculture has a significant impact on the planet's ability to capture and sequester atmospheric carbon.

In particular, red meat consumption will need to be cut by half if the food system is to stay within sustainable environmental limits. Changing our diets in this way will not only help to mitigate climate change but will also improve our health: there is also clear evidence that replacing animal protein with plant-based protein results in lower rates of stroke, heart disease, diabetes, and overall death rates.

If we are to hope to limit dangerous climate change and improve health outcomes, governments – including our own – will have to do far more to improve the sustainability of the food that we eat. The UK Health Alliance on Climate Change (UKHACC) believes that action should urgently be taken on a number of demand-side and supply-side measures. "Food is comparable to transport and domestic energy consumption in terms of its role in personal carbon footprints."

– WWF-UK



SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATIONS:

- Information and advice will need to form the bedrock of any strategy, raising awareness of the issues around food and climate change and giving advice on actions that the public can take to reduce their impact and improve their health. In particular, health professionals should be properly supported with the information they need to deliver, and direct patients to, clear and accessible advice about food and health that supports the transition to a climate-friendly diet.
- Without clear point of sale information, consumers will not be able to make healthy and sustainable choices.
 Mandatory environmental labelling for food, similar to existing nutritional information, would not only inform sustainable consumer choices but would also mean that producers would have to measure their impacts in a uniform way and be accountable for the results.
- UK homes currently waste 7 million tonnes of food each year, and yet many foods are only available in bulk or are bundled into so-called 'buy-one-get-one-free' promotions. Government should therefore work swiftly with retailers to end the practice of 'buy-one-get-one-free' promotions for unhealthy and perishable foods, to help reduce food waste.

- Government should act directly by amending public procurement rules around catering to use state purchasing power to shift the market – changing eating behaviours and expanding the supply of sustainable food. Opportunities for such an approach exist across the public services, from schools to social care, but, it is in the NHS that progress could be made most quickly, especially given NHS England's commitment to achieving net-zero carbon emissions by 2040 through the Greener NHS programme. All catering within the NHS should therefore be procured in accordance with common sustainability guidelines.
- Fiscal incentives have proven effective in changing behaviour and the so-called 'Sugar Tax' demonstrates that it is possible to develop such mechanisms in relation to food. The Government should signal that it intends to move in this direction if voluntary action on the full climate impact of food products is not taken by the food industry by 2025, with a food carbon tax to be levied on all food producers according to the carbon footprint of their products.
- The future of the UK's trading relationships with the EU and other countries remains uncertain, but trade policy should put public and planetary health at its core. Any new trade agreements must include a clause requiring imports to meet UK environmental standards.

Changing diets will require concerted action, and leadership from government will play an important part in that. There are a number of models for ensuring that that is in place, but as a minimum we would like to see a cross-departmental, ministerial working group to bring together thinking on food and farming, health, climate change and trade. This working group should be charged with overseeing the completion and delivery of the National Food Strategy, which should of course take into account climate change.

INTRODUCTION

Climate change undermines the foundations of health - clean air, safe drinking water, and healthy and secure shelter. It increases the number and intensity of extreme weather events, like floods and storms, damaging health facilities and infrastructure, and putting health systems under intense pressure. While many of these effects will be felt most acutely in the global south, all will be evident in countries like the UK. Failure to act quickly will heighten existing national health challenges, place undue financial strain on the NHS, and worsen health inequalities both within the UK and internationally. By responding to climate change we can simultaneously bring huge public health benefits and help reduce financial pressure on our health service.

"Failure to act quickly will heighten existing national health challenges, place undue financial strain on the NHS, and worsen health inequalities both within the UK and internationally." Importantly, climate change threatens the availability of safe and sufficient food, resulting from water scarcity, reduced yields and nutritional quality of crops, as well as pest and vector migration¹²³. But the way we produce and consume food also contributes to climate change⁴. Over 20% of global carbon emissions arise from agriculture and food⁵, and agriculture is the biggest driver of deforestation and associated biodiversity loss across the world⁶. As with many of the key drivers of climate change – like fossil fuel energy, and poorly designed cities which make us reliant on cars rather than active transport – current models of industrial farming and food production harm our health directly through air pollution⁷ and encourage a high saturated fat intake.

The Alliance recognises the food system as an area that needs to be addressed if the United Kingdom is to meet its commitments under the Paris Agreement, as well as an area in which significant health co-benefits could be realised – food is central to our health and well-being. However, food is also a deeply social issue – one that is tied to identity. Attitudes vary greatly across generations, socio-economic backgrounds and according to many other factors. This is perhaps most evident in our attitudes to the environmental impact of the food we eat, not least in relation to meat consumption, a major contributor to greenhouse gas emissions. Realising the co-benefits for health and climate in this area will require difficult choices for policy makers, practitioners and the public alike.



HEALTHY FOOD WITHIN PLANETARY BOUNDARIES

"Without change, the global food system will continue to degrade the environment and compromise the world's capacity to produce food in the future, as well as contribute to climate change and the destruction of biodiversity." – Foresight. The Future of Food and Farming⁸



Much of the activity to limit climate change has, thus far, focused on decarbonising energy and transportation. Increasingly, attention is turning to the role that food production plays in producing greenhouse gas emissions. If we are to hope to limit dangerous climate change, governments – including our own – will have to do far more to improve the sustainability of the food that we eat. Such measures will not only limit the negative health impacts of climate change, but also improve the health of the general population.

The Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) report makes clear once again that it will be impossible to keep global temperatures at safe levels unless there is a transformation in the way the world produces food and manages land – between 20% and 30% of global carbon emissions are from agriculture⁹ and food, and about half of all methane emissions come from cattle and rice fields alone. As the biggest driver of deforestation, agriculture has a significant impact on the planet's ability to capture and sequester atmospheric carbon. In the UK, food production and consumption represents around 20% of our emissions, half of which is related to imports (largely through feed crops and related deforestation), rather than the food that we produce here¹⁰.

There is clear evidence that replacing animal protein with plant-based protein results in lower rates of stroke, heart disease, diabetes, and overall death rates¹¹. A number of dietary guidelines, such as Public Health England's Eatwell Guide and the One Blue Dot guidelines (produced by the British Dietetic Association), recommend healthier diets that contain less red and processed meat, combined with increased plant-based foods^{12 13}. The EAT-Lancet Commission on food, planet and health argues that global red meat consumption will need to be cut by half if the food system is to stay within sustainable environmental limits. Similarly, we will need to substantially reduce - by 50% - the amount of food lost and wasted along the food supply chain, from production to consumption¹⁴.

Making the changes to diet recommended by these studies will be difficult to achieve without concerted international action, through a wide range of supplyand demand-side interventions from governments. In the UK, significant progress has been made on decarbonising energy, but if we are to reach netzero by 2050 we need to address greenhouse gas emissions related to our diet – around half of which are due to beef and dairy farming¹⁵. This is an area in which the UK can genuinely take the lead – and gain a competitive advantage in a post-Brexit market.

FOOD AND CLIMATE

There are many ways in which food production and consumption have an impact on climate change, and consequently on health. If these impacts are to be reduced, action is needed on each of them.

FOOD MILES

While over 80% of greenhouse gas emissions linked to food are in its production, up to 10% derive from transporting it¹⁶. Although a relatively small component, this is still significant and producing food closer to where it is consumed wherever possible will be an important part of any strategy to reduce the climate impact of food production and consumption. Increasing the amount of seasonal food we eat will also help to reduce the carbon cost of transporting food, but could also encourage the consumption of fresher, healthier food.



All food production has climate impacts, so reducing the amount of food we waste can help lessen these. The Waste Resources Action Programme (WRAP) estimates that total UK household food waste in 2015 was 7.1 million tonnes (70% of total food waste) with a value of around £15 billion¹⁸. Food waste has climate impacts beyond the needless production: in the UK, food waste going to landfill creates more than 20m tonnes of methane each year (460mT CO₂e) and, if global food waste were a country, it would be the third-largest emitter of greenhouse gases after the US and China¹⁹.

Refrigeration accounts for 15% of electricity usage worldwide²⁰, and consequently has a very high carbon footprint. There is significant potential to reduce the energy expended in storing food that is subsequently wasted, especially meat which requires more refrigeration than other foods.

"Food waste going to landfill creates more than 20 million tonnes of methane each year"



PACKAGING

The packaging associated with processed foods has its own carbon costs, and the wider environmental impacts of plastics in particular have been a cause of increasing public concern over recent years. The carbon footprint of plastics most used in food packaging is about 6 kg CO₂ per kg of plastic¹⁷. But the way we package food - particularly fresh foods like salad leaves - also has an impact on the amount of food we buy and consequently waste.

"The carbon footprint of plastics most used in food packaging is about 6 kg CO, per kg of plastic"

LESS AND BETTER MEAT

Meat production has a particularly high impact on the climate, and diets that prioritise plant-based proteins and limit animal-based proteins are associated with much lower greenhouse gas emissions, as well as better health outcomes^{21 22}. The independent UK Committee on Climate Change says we need a 20% fall in beef, lamb, and dairy consumption to get to net-zero emissions by 2050²³, while the Eating Better alliance suggests that we need to be consuming 50% less meat (red and otherwise) by 2030²⁴.

There is evidence that less intensively farmed livestock has a less severe climate impact: modelling suggests that switching from intensive to agroecology/organic farming could reduce agriculture-related greenhouse gas emissions by 40-47% across Europe²⁵; and pasture itself can act as a carbon sink²⁶. However, these relative benefits do not outweigh the overwhelming impact of red meat production and any strategy that hopes to reach net-zero will need to address this difficult issue.

THE CHALLENGE OF CHANGING UK DIETS

Changing the way we produce and consume food to mitigate climate impacts and improve health is central to achieving the cuts required to reach net-zero emissions. But it will be no easy task. Not least, changing behaviour is notoriously difficult, and radically changing dietary habits will be no different. It will require the right balance of demand- and supply- side mechanisms, as well as a mix of information and incentives for each.

As a first step we need to see much more done to communicate the climate impact of food, and we need to learn the lessons of healthy eating campaigns more generally. There are a number of opportunities for communicating the messages that will support such a change. There is already a high level of trust in advice in health professionals, especially around healthy eating²⁷. It will however be important to frame arguments for change in terms of moderation, emphasising freedom of choice. Appealing to consumers' antipathy to waste – the success of 'wonky veg' offerings in supermarkets illustrates the public appetite for avoiding food waste – will also be important, as will communicating the burden on the NHS unsustainable diets result in.

More challenging will be normalising the consumption of less meat, as meat is often seen as a core part of a healthy diet and the link between meat and climate change is not widely understood. While awareness of the environmental impacts of livestock is growing, from 31% in 2017 to 38% in 2019²⁸, this is primarily among the young, the socially liberal and the urban. When sought, public opinion tends to support measures to encourage 'low-income households' to consume more vegetables, rather than introducing disincentives to climate-negative food consumption, especially meat. Emphasising moderation, steering consumers towards better quality meat that comes from livestock that is less intensively farmed, and providing clear information on healthy and sustainable diets, is something for which health professionals are ideally placed. People listen to health professionals and the primary reason given for cutting back on meat is for health reasons. The PHE Eatwell Guide is a good starting point for illustrating what a healthy, climatefriendly diet looks like. While there are some criticisms of the guide, especially in relation to the amount of starchy carbohydrates it recommends, its established position means it can be used as a reference point more widely.

"The public sector, and especially the NHS, is a major purchaser of food and commissioner of catering services. This buying power could be used more effectively to shift production patterns as well as change dietary behaviour."

Alongside advice and information, other tools exist. The public sector, and especially the NHS, is a major purchaser of food and commissioner of catering services. This buying power could be used more effectively to shift production patterns as well as change dietary behaviour of, for example, hospital patients and school pupils. The links between health and climate will clearly be important in changing the UK's patterns of food production and consumption. Making information more readily available at the point of purchase could effectively 'nudge' consumer behaviour, encouraged by regulation on the producer side.

Price is consistently the leading factor that affects the food people buy, and the amount that we currently pay for our food does not cover the wider costs to society of its production and consumption – including their impact on emissions, biodiversity, and our health. Raising the prices of tobacco, alcohol and, more recently, soft drinks has demonstrated the effectiveness of such measures in reducing harmful consumption.

POLICY RECOMMENDATIONS

Government has a critical leadership role in achieving these changes. The UKHACC believes that action should urgently be taken on a number of demand-side and supply-side measures:

1. ADVICE AND INFORMATION

Information and advice will need to form the bedrock of any strategy, raising awareness of the issues around food and climate change and giving advice on actions that the public can take to reduce their impact and improve their health. This could be achieved by adding to the existing health-related dietary advice delivered through public information campaigns.

In particular, health professionals should be properly equipped with the information they need to share clear and accessible advice to their patients about food and health that supports the transition to a climate-friendly diet, using the Eatwell Guide or another as a key reference point.

While they are well placed to advise patients on diet and its links to climate change, health professionals cannot be expected to have all of the answers nor to be able to discuss this at length in a clinical setting. Online resources from the NHS, that can be accessed by health professionals and highlighted to patients, must play a part in supporting health professionals and the wider public to make choices that are healthier for themselves and the planet.



2. FOOD LABELLING

Without clear point of sale information, consumers will not be able to make healthy and sustainable choices. We already successfully label a variety of consumer goods (and indeed buildings) for their environmental performance. For example, the 1992 EU Directive on labelling energy efficiency of domestic appliances has had a considerable impact: initially, 75% of fridges and freezers were rated G to D (low efficiency), but today 98% are classed A++ or A+++. The widespread use of food labelling, including traffic lights around key health factors such as sugar, salt and fat, demonstrates that consumers are already used to interpreting such guidance at point of sale.

Two-thirds (67%) of consumers support the idea of a recognisable carbon label to demonstrate that products have been made with a commitment to measuring and reducing their carbon footprint²⁹. Making clear environmental labelling mandatory for food in much the same way as existing requirements would not only inform sustainable consumer choices, but would also mean that producers would have to measure their impacts in a uniform way and be accountable for the results³⁰.

Such labelling would need to be easy to follow, and also should not lead to additional packaging. One promising proposal is to describe the greenhouse emissions associated with particular food items in terms of what percentage of a person's typical daily carbon footprint they represent³¹. However, given the complexity of the factors underlying the climate impact of food (not just ingredients but also packaging and food miles), devising a robust yet practicable system might seem daunting. But models exist, such as the Carbon Trust's supply chain and product foot-printing³² and GHG Protocol's Product Standards³³. Some manufacturers, such as Oatly³⁴, have already begun to record the carbon footprint of their products on their packaging. Such examples could be used as a basis for Governmentcommissioned independent research into the most effective form of labelling to implement to support consumers in making more sustainable choices.

3. PUBLIC PROCUREMENT

Government could act directly by amending public procurement rules where food is provided directly to service users. Using state purchasing power in this way goes far beyond the specific goods and services purchased, important as that is. Large-scale procurement decisions help to shift the market by creating enlightened buyers to which producers can respond without losing out, changing norms and expanding supply. In addition, service users can become familiar with healthier, more sustainable eating, which can make changing their food habits easier, for them and for their families. Opportunities exist for such an approach across the public services, from schools to social care, but it is in the NHS that most progress can be made most quickly - especially given NHS England's commitment to achieving net-zero carbon emissions by 2040³⁵.

As the largest producer of public sector emissions the NHS can and should be a leader in the fight against climate change, which is the greatest threat to public health of the 21st century. The NHS rightly prides itself on providing the highest possible quality of care for patients; this now must extend to the food it serves. There are procurement/dietary standards in place, but it is down to individual trusts to exercise them and there is little data available on how they are adopting these standards. But there are examples of good practice in trusts and the NHS England Sustainable Development Unit is working to share best practice and encourage the adoption of higher procurement standards in this area.

Nottingham University Hospitals NHS Trust sources more than 90% of its fresh red meat and all of its milk, vegetables, salad and fruit in season from within a 30 mile radius of the hospital. By switching to local suppliers and choosing different cuts of meat the bill for fresh meat fell while the producers still enjoyed a premium. Nottingham has made a concerted effort to localise the supply chain and has achieved savings of over £800,000 per year while also significantly reducing food miles and supporting the local economy^{36 37}.

Isolated examples of good practice, while laudable in themselves, are only the beginning. They cannot by themselves create sufficient scale and, importantly, disparate standards will not allow for providers to supply healthier and sustainable food economically and at scale. If public procurement is to underpin more systematic change in food production and consumption, we believe that all catering within the public services, and especially in the NHS, should as a minimum adhere to common, established guidelines. In the first instance, this could be PHE's Eatwell Guide or, for example, the BDA's Blue Dot standard³⁸.

4. REDUCING WASTE

The UK currently wastes a third of its food and yet many foods, including highly processed and unhealthy items, are only available in bulk or are frequently bundled into so-called 'buy-one-get-one-free' deals. These practices, together with confusing 'best before' and 'use by' labelling, encourages a great deal of the 7.1 million tonnes of domestic food waste each year.

Along with adding to food and materials waste, some research suggests that this contributes to the UK's obesity³⁹, which puts a large strain on the NHS. In 2017/18, 10,600 hospital admissions were directly attributable to obesity, while obesity was a factor in a further 700,000 cases⁴⁰. Furthermore, obesity is an area in which health inequalities are at their starkest – obesity is over twice as prevalent in the most deprived areas compared to the least deprived areas⁴¹.

Government should therefore work with the industry to review food packaging and promotions that encourage waste, simultaneously tackling the obesity and waste crises. In particular, government should work swiftly with retailers to end the practice of 'buy-one-get-one-free' promotions for unhealthy and perishable foods.

> British households produced 7.1 million tonnes of food waste in 2015¹⁸

5. TOWARDS A CARBON TAX

Fiscal incentives have long been proven effective in changing behaviour. Carbon pricing, in the form of the EU Emissions Trading Scheme, has been successful in reducing carbon emissions since its introduction⁴². The Soft Drinks Industry Levy (SDIL), the so-called 'Sugar Tax', demonstrates that it is possible to develop similar mechanisms in relation to food, with the Treasury estimating that more than 50% of manufacturers preemptively changed their formulas to cut sugar in response to the tax⁴³; the positive impact of minimum unit pricing for alcohol in Scotland further demonstrates the effectiveness of such incentives⁴⁴. The success of the levy on plastic bags also provides precedent for addressing excess packaging, and suggests that government has other tools at its disposal, should collaboration with the food industry not move quickly enough.

However, the route to implementing both the SDIL and minimum unit pricing shows that doing so requires sustained focus and takes time. That is why we believe that the Government should signal that it intends to move in this direction if voluntary action on the full climate impact of food products is not taken by the food industry by 2025. This food carbon tax should be levied on all food producers and be based on the carbon footprint of their products: the work done on modelling foot-printing to support mandatory food labelling will be important in establishing the basis for the levy.

The impact of such a tax on UK farmers of changing diets could be reduced by enhancing and accelerating the implementation of the Environmental Land Management scheme, offering subsidies for encouraging biodiversity and afforestation. This is now increasingly possible given the UK's departure from the EU and the Common Agricultural Policy. While the tax should be levied on producers, some may choose to pass on the costs in price rises, rather than reduce their climate impact, and the potential impact on consumers – particularly those on low incomes – should not be underestimated. Government will need to commission independent research, including a public consultation, to inform the details of a carbon tax and to assess and mitigate potential distributional impacts.

6. FOOD POLICY AFTER BREXIT

The future of the UK's trading relationship with the EU and other countries is still somewhat uncertain. Such ambiguity is concerning, as half the UK's food is imported, with 26% coming from the EU⁴⁵. The specific terms of any trade deal agreed will have profound impacts on the future of our food system and, by consequence, on public health. A poorly designed trade deal could exacerbate these negative trends.

Future trade policy should set the ambition of making fresh and minimally processed foods more available and more affordable – public and planetary health should be a core consideration of all trade negotiations. The Alliance agrees with the conclusions of the DEFRA Select Committee report, *Brexit: Trade in Food*⁴⁶ that as "the Government looks beyond the EU for new free trade agreements, it must not sacrifice our reputation for animal welfare and environmental standards" in return for cheap imports or securing a trade deal. Therefore, any new trade agreement must include a clause requiring imports to meet UK environmental standards.

7. GOVERNANCE AND STRATEGY

Changing diets will require concerted action and leadership from government will play an important part in that. There are a number of models for ensuring that that is in place, but as a minimum we would like to see a cross-departmental, ministerial working group to bring together thinking on food and farming, health, climate change and trade. The working group should be charged with overseeing the completion and delivery of the National Food Strategy, which should of course take into account climate change.

CONCLUSION

Changing the way that we both produce and consume food is essential if we are to mitigate climate change. Failure to act quickly will heighten existing national health challenges, place undue financial strain on the NHS, and worsen health inequalities both within the UK and internationally. By responding to climate change we can simultaneously bring huge public health benefits and help reduce financial pressure on our health service.

Producers have a critical role to play in stripping out harmful emissions from their processes and, where voluntary action is not forthcoming, the government must be ready to regulate. But, given that around half of the UK's food-related greenhouse gas emissions are linked to imported food, consumers also have to change some of their dietary habits. Of course, the food industry, from manufacturers to retailers, has an important part in that and government again, not least in relation to future trade deals, has a duty to ensure that food coming into the country is high quality, healthy and sustainable. But all of us will need to change our attitudes and behaviours, from reducing food waste to increasing the proportion of plant-based protein that we eat.

Food is a deeply social issue, one that is tied to identity, and the scale of that challenge should not be underestimated. Providing reliable information and advice, alongside regulation and incentives, will be essential to changing hearts and minds. Health professionals have a critical role to play here, as trusted professionals, and the UK Health Alliance on Climate Change will continue to support them in that endeavour.



REFERENCES

- 1. IPCC, 2019. <u>Special Report on Climate Change and Land:</u> <u>Summary For Policymakers.</u>
- Myers et al., 2017. <u>Climate Change and Global Food</u> Systems: Potential Impacts on Food Security and <u>Undernutrition</u>. Annual Review of Public Health, 38(1).
- Perignon et al., 2016. <u>Improving diet sustainability</u> through evolution of food choices: review of epidemiological studies on the environmental impact of diets. Nutrition Reviews, 75(1).
- 4. Production-side measures are only part of the solution and experts agree that a demand-side measure (i.e., shift in population diet) is required for real change (Audsley 2009; Bajzelj et al., 2014; Garnett 2013; Roos et al., 2017).
- Poore & Nemecek (2018) Reducing food's environmental impacts through producers and consumers. Science, 360(6392).
- 6. Curtis et al. (2018) <u>Classifying Drivers of Global Forest</u> Loss. Science, 361(6407).
- As well as its contribution to GHG emissions, agriculture is responsible for 80% of UK ammonia emissions – a key contributor to small particulate matter air pollution (DEFRA, 2016, Guthrie et al. 2018; Giannadaki et al., 2018; Pozzer et al., 2017).
- 8. Government Office for Science (2011) Foresight. The Future of Food and Farming.
- In the UK agriculture is responsible for 10% of GHGE, but 20% if you include the impact of imports (largely through feed crops and related deforestation). Our impact is not solely based on what we produce here in the UK, but on what we consume, including imports (Audsley et al., 2009; de Ruiter et al., 2016; Sandstrom et al., 2018).
- 10. ibid
- 11. Tilman and Clark, 2014; Hallström, Carlsson-Kanyama and Börjesson, 2015; Scarborough et al., 2012; Schwingshackl et al., 2017; Springmann et al., 2016; Willet et al., 2019.
- 12. Public Health England (2018) The Eatwell Guide (v4).
- 13. BDA (2019) <u>Eating patterns for health and environmental</u> <u>sustainability</u>.
- 14. EAT (2019) Summary Report of the EAT-Lancet Commission.
- 15. Springmann et al. (2018) <u>Health and nutritional aspects</u> of sustainable diet strategies and their association with <u>environmental impacts</u>. The Lancet Planetary Health, 2(10).
- Poore & Nemecek, 2018; Weber & Matthews 2008; Garnett, 2011 (see further reading).
- 17. Time for Change [online].
- 18. WRAP (2018) <u>Courtauld Commitment 2025 food waste</u> baseline for 2015.
- 19. Food waste accounts for around 3.3 billion tonnes of CO₂e emissions (Poore & Nemecek, 2018), more than every country except China (9.8 GtCO₂eq) and the USA (6.1 GtCO₂eq) (2010 data).
- 20. Niles et al. (2018) <u>Climate change mitigation beyond</u> agriculture: a review of food system opportunities and <u>implications</u>. Renewable Agriculture and Food Systems, 33(3).
- 21. Springmann et al. (2016) <u>Global and regional health</u> <u>effects of future food production under climate change</u>. The Lancet, 387(10031).

- 22. Tilman & Clark (2014) <u>Global diets link environmental</u> <u>sustainability and human health</u>. Nature, 515(7528), pp.518-522.
- 23. CCC (2020) Land use: Policies for a Net Zero UK.
- 24. Eating Better (2019) Better by half.
- 25. Aubert (2019) Agroecology and carbon neutrality in Europe by 2050: what are the issues? IDDRI.
- 26. Bash & Donnelly (2019) <u>Sustainable Food Systems</u> for a Healthier UK. Faculty of Public Health.
- 27. The Climate Coalition & Eating Better (2019) Talking Diet, Climate & Health: Messages that engage, messages that don't.
- 28. Eating Better (2019) YouGov Survey.
- 29. Carbon Trust (2019) <u>Consumer demand for climate</u> <u>change labelling</u>. A YouGov poll of 9,037 adults.
- 30. Poore & Nemecek (2018) (see footnote 5).
- 31. New Scientist (2016) <u>Stop buying organic food if you</u> really want to save the planet.
- 32. Carbon Trust, Footprint measurement and analysis information.
- 33. WRI & WBCSD (2011) Product life cycle accounting and reporting standard.
- 34. Oatly, Oat drink with CO, equivalents.
- 35. NHS England and NHS Improvement (2020) <u>Delivering a</u> <u>'Net Zero' National Health Service</u>.
- 36. Pencheon (2018) <u>How food systems in the public sector</u> can lead the way in being environmentally, socially and financially sustainable. RSA.
- 37. NHS England Sustainable Development Unit (2014) Sustainable, Resilient, Healthy People & Places: Commissioning and procurement.
- BDA (2019) Eating patterns for health and environmental sustainability.
- 39. Michaelowa et al. (2006) <u>Greenhouse gas benefits of</u> fighting obesity.
- 40. Health & Social Care Information Centre (2019) <u>Statistics</u> on Obesity, Physical Activity and Diet, England.
- 41. ibid
- 42. Dechezleprêtre et al. (2018) <u>The joint impact of</u> <u>the European Union emissions trading system on</u> <u>carbon emissions and economic performance</u>. OECD Economics Department Working Paper no.1515.
- 43. LSHTM, 2018. <u>The UK has introduced a sugar tax,</u> but will it work?
- 44. O'Donnell et al. (2019) <u>Immediate impact of minimum</u> unit pricing on alcohol purchases in Scotland: controlled interrupted time series analysis for 2015-18. BMJ 366 I5274.
- 45. Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (2020). <u>Agriculture in the United Kingdom 2019</u>.
- 46. House of Commons EFRA Committee (2018). Brexit: Trade in Food, 3rd Report of Session 2017-19.

FURTHER READING

Alexandratos & Bruinsma (2012) World Agriculture Towards 2030/2050: the 2012 Revision. ESA Working Paper12-03. Rome: FAO.

Audsley et, al. (2009) <u>How Low Can We Go? An Assessment</u> of Greenhouse Gas Emissions from the UK Food System and the Scope to Reduce Them by 2050. FCRN-WWF-UK.

Bajželj et al. (2014) Importance of food-demand management for climate mitigation. Nature Climate Change, 4(10).

Campbell et al. (2017) Agriculture production as a major driver of the Earth system exceeding planetary boundaries. Ecology and Society, 22(4).

Clark & Tilman (2017). Comparative analysis of environmental impacts of agricultural production systems, agricultural input efficiency, and food choice. Environmental Research Letters, 12(6).

DEFRA (2016) Air Quality: Fourth Report of Session 2015-16. London: House of Commons.

de Ruiter et al. (2016) <u>Global cropland and greenhouse gas</u> impacts of UK food supply are increasingly located overseas. Journal of The Royal Society Interface, 13(114).

Garnett (2011) <u>Where are the best opportunities for reducing</u> greenhouse gas emissions in the food system (including the food chain)? Food Policy, 36(1).

Garnett (2013) Food sustainability: problems, perspectives and solutions. Proceedings of the Nutrition Society, 72(1).

Giannadaki et al. (2018) Estimating health and economic benefits of reductions in air pollution from agriculture. Science of The Total Environment. Milner et al. (2015) Health effects of adopting low greenhouse gas emission diets in the UK. BMJ Open, 5(4).

Myers et al. (2017) Climate Change and Global Food Systems: Potential Impacts on Food Security and Undernutrition. Annual Review of Public Health, 38(1).

Pozzer et al. (2017) Impact of agricultural emission reductions on fine particulate matter and public health. Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics Discussions.

Röös et al. (2017) Greedy or needy? Land use and climate impacts of food in 2050 under different livestock futures. Global Environmental Change, 47.

Sandström et al. (2018) The role of trade in the greenhouse gas footprints of EU diets. Global Food Security, 19.

Scarborough et al. (2014) Dietary greenhouse gas emissions of meat-eaters, fish-eaters, vegetarians and vegans in the UK. Climatic Change, 125(2).

Schwingshackl et al. (2017) Food groups and risk of allcause mortality: a systematic review and meta-analysis of prospective studies. The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, p.ajcn153148.

Springmann et al. (2016) Global and regional health effects of future food production under climate change: a modelling study. The Lancet, 387(10031).

Willett et al. (2019) Food in the Anthropocene: the EAT– Lancet Commission on healthy diets from sustainable food systems. The Lancet, 393(10170).

ALL-CONSUMING: Building a healthier food System for people and planet

For any questions or queries about this UK Health Alliance on Climate Change report, or to discuss it further, please get in touch:

附 info@ukhealthalliance.org

JOIN OUR NETWORK:

To register for regular updates from the UK Health Alliance on Climate Change, go to:

whealthalliance.org/take-action



UK Health Alliance on Climate Change